# NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

CONCEPTS AND PHYSICAL PROPERTIES ILLUSTRATED BY EXPERIMENTS

### Patrick Oswald Pawel Pieranski





# NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

CONCEPTS AND PHYSICAL PROPERTIES ILLUSTRATED BY EXPERIMENTS

### *Edited by* G.W. GRAY, J.W. GOODBY & A. FUKUDA

The Liquid Crystals book series publishes authoritative accounts of all aspects of the field, ranging from the basic fundamentals to the forefront of research; from the physics of liquid crystals to their chemical and biological properties; and, from their self-assembling structures to their applications in devices. The series will provide readers new to liquid crystals with a firm grounding in the subject, while experienced scientists and liquid crystallographers will find that the series is an indispensable resource.

#### **PUBLISHED TITLES**

Introduction to Liquid Crystals: Chemistry and Physics *By Peter J. Collings and Michael Hird* 

The Static and Dynamic Continuum Theory of Liquid Crystals: A Mathematical Introduction By Iain W. Stewart

Crystals that Flow: Classic Papers from the History of Liquid Crystals Compiled with translation and commentary by Timothy J. Sluckin, David A. Dunmur, Horst Stegemeyer

# NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

CONCEPTS AND PHYSICAL PROPERTIES ILLUSTRATED BY EXPERIMENTS

> Patrick Oswald Pawel Pieranski

TRANSLATED BY Doru Constantin

With the support of Merck KgaA (LC division), Rolic Research Ltd, and the Laboratoire de Physique des Solides d'Orsay



A CRC title, part of the Taylor & Francis imprint, a member of the Taylor & Francis Group, the academic division of T&F Informa plc.

CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group 6000 Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33487-2742

© 2005 by Taylor & Francis Group, LLC CRC Press is an imprint of Taylor & Francis Group, an Informa business

No claim to original U.S. Government works Version Date: 20150121

International Standard Book Number-13: 978-0-203-02301-3 (eBook - PDF)

This book contains information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reasonable efforts have been made to publish reliable data and information, but the author and publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or the consequences of their use. The authors and publishers have attempted to trace the copyright holders of all material reproduced in this publication and apologize to copyright holders if permission to publish in this form has not been obtained. If any copyright material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so we may rectify in any future reprint.

Except as permitted under U.S. Copyright Law, no part of this book may be reprinted, reproduced, transmitted, or utilized in any form by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without written permission from the publishers.

For permission to photocopy or use material electronically from this work, please access www.copyright.com (http:// www.copyright.com/) or contact the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, 978-750-8400. CCC is a not-for-profit organization that provides licenses and registration for a variety of users. For organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by the CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged.

**Trademark Notice:** Product or corporate names may be trademarks or registered trademarks, and are used only for identification and explanation without intent to infringe.

Visit the Taylor & Francis Web site at http://www.taylorandfrancis.com

and the CRC Press Web site at http://www.crcpress.com

### CONTENTS

### Nematic and Cholesteric Liquid Crystals

Fore	word	XI
Dedi	ication	1
Prefe	ace to the English edition	3
PAI	RT A: OVERVIEW	
Cha	pter A.I Some history	7
I.1	Georges Friedel and liquid crystals	7
I.2	The discovery of birefringence in fluid biological substances by Buffon, Virchow, and Mettenheimer: lyotropic liquid crystals	9
I.3	Observation of the surprising behavior of cholesteryl esters by Planer and Reinitzer: thermotropic liquid crystals	12
I.4	Fliessende Kristalle or "the flowing crystals" of Otto Lehmann	14
Cha	pter A.II Modern classification of liquid crystals	17
II.1	The terminology introduced by Georges Friedel.II.1.a)Polymorphism and mesomorphic statesII.1.b)Nematic and cholesteric phasesII.1.c)Smectic phases	17 17 18 19
II.2	Modern definition of mesophases; broken symmetries; short- and long-distance order	20
II.3	Classification of smectic phases	24
II.4	Classification of columnar phases	29
II.5	Chiral smectic phases	31

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

Char	oter A.II	I Mesogenic anatomy	35
III.1	Thermot	ropic liquid crystals	35
	III.1.a)	Hybrid molecular form and molecular frustration	36
	III.1.b)	Importance of small structural details	40
	III.1.c)	Eutectic mixtures	40
	III.1.d)	Precursors and "relatives" of cyanobiphenyls	43
	III.1.e)	General architecture of smectogenic and nematogenic	
		products: calamitic molecules	46
	III.1.f)	Other examples of mesomorphic molecules:	
		discoidal molecules	47
III.2	Lyotropi	c liquid crystals	51
III.3	Liquid ci	ystal diblock copolymers	59
III.4	Colloidal	liquid crystals	60

### PART B: MESOPHASES WITH AN ORIENTATIONAL ORDER

Cha	pter B.I	Structure and dielectric properties of the nematic phase	65
I.1	Quadrup I.1.a) I.1.b)	bolar order parameter Uniaxial nematics Biaxial nematics	66 66 71
I.2	The unia I.2.a) I.2.b)	Axial nematic-isotropic liquid phase transitionLandau-de Gennes theoryDetermination of the Landau coefficients:the Cotton-Mouton and Kerr effects	71 72 74
I.3	The unia	axial nematic-biaxial nematic phase transition	78
I.4	Low-fred I.4.a) I.4.b)	Juency dielectric properties         Potential energy of a molecule in an electric field         Permanent and induced dipoles of an isolated molecule:         role of the molecular symmetry	80 80 81
	I.4.c) I.4.d)	Absence of spontaneous polarization and Flexo-electricity in the nematic phase Dielectric anisotropy	83 87
I.5	Optical j <i>I.5.a)</i> <i>I.5.b)</i>	properties Preliminary experiment: double refraction of a nematic prism Ordinary and extraordinary rays: eigenmodes	92 92 93

	I.5.c)	Calculation of the extraordinary ray trajectory:	~ -
	T = 1)	generalization of the Fermat principle (Grandjean 1919)	97
	1.5.d)	Eigenmodes of a twisted nematic	102
	1.5.e) I 5 f)	Conoscony	100
	1.5.[)	Conoscopy	100
Chap	oter B.II	Nematoelasticity: Frederiks transition	110
		and light scattering	117
II.1	Grupp ex	xperiment	119
II.2	Frank-O	seen free energy	120
II.3	Free ene	rgy minimization: molecular field and elastic torques	126
II.4	Interpre	tation of the Grupp experiment	128
II.5	Magneti	c field action	131
	H.5.a)	Physical interpretation of the bulk torque	131
	II.5.0) II.5.c)	Molecular magnetic field	132
	II.5.d)	Frederiks instability in magnetic field	135
	II.5.e)	Application to the determination of the elastic constants	138
II.6	Action of	f an electric field: displays	141
	II.6.a)	Employing an electric field	141
	11.6.b)	Setting up a 16-pixel display	143
II.7	Elastic li	ight scattering and the determination	1.45
TI O	of the Fr	ank constants	147
11.8	Nonlinea $U \otimes \alpha$	Optics	154
	II.8.a) II.8 h	Nonlinear analysis	154
	II.8.c)	Autofocusing of a laser beam	163
Appe	ndix 1: Ca	alculating the scattering cross-section	168
Appe	ndix 2: Fr	ree energy expression in the Fourier space	171
Chap	pter B.II	I Nematodynamics and flow instabilities	173
III.1	Prelimin	ary observations illustrating some fundamental	
	difference	es between a nematic and an ordinary liquid	174
	III.1.a)	Frederiks instability and rotational viscosity	174
	111.1.b) III.1.c)	Scintillation and orientation fluctuations of the director The Wahl and Fischer experiment: influence	176
	/	of shearing on the director orientation	178
	III.1.d)	"Backflow" effect	182

	III.1.e)	Viscosities under shear:	
		the experiments of Miesowicz and Gähwiller	183
III.2	Equation	as of the linear nematodynamics	185
	III.2.a)	Choice of the hydrodynamic variables	185
	III.2.b)	Surface torque field	186
	III.2.c)	<i>Conservation equations for the mass and the momentum</i>	187
	III.2.d)	Constructing the stress tensor	188
	III.2.e)	Equation of torque balance:	
		application of the angular momentum theorem	192
	III.2.f)	Irreversible entropy production	195
	III.2.g)	Summary of the equations and	
		description of the hydrodynamic modes	197
III.3	Laminar	v Couette and Poiseuille flows	201
	III.3.a)	Simple shear under a strong magnetic field (Couette)	
	,	and determining the Miesowicz viscosities	201
	III.3.b)	Poiseuille flow and "transverse" viscous stress	204
III A	Lominor	y flows and their stability	206
111.4	$III \Lambda \alpha$	Revnolde and Frickeen numbers	200
	III.4.0 III 4 h	Definition of the hydrodynamic toraue	200
	III.4.0) III.4.c)	Origin of the hydrodynamic torque	$\frac{200}{210}$
	III.4.d)	Measuring the $\alpha_2$ viscosity	211
	III.4.e)	Destabilization under continuous shear when $\alpha_2 > 0$	
	,	in the (b) Miesowicz geometry ( $n // v$ and $n \perp grad v$ )	216
	III.4.f)	Destabilization under continuous shear for $\alpha_3 < 0$ in	
		the (a) Miesowicz geometry $(n \perp v \text{ and } n \perp grad v) \dots$	222
	III.4.g)	Destabilization under linear oscillating shear in	
		the (a) Miesowicz geometry $(n \perp v \text{ and } n \perp grad v) \dots$	227
	III.4.h)	Elliptical shear: director precession	233
	III.4.i)	Instabilities under elliptic shear	239
III.5	Convecti	ve instabilities of electrohydrodynamic origin	242
	III.5.a)	Theoretical model	243
	III.5.b)	Nonlinear regime	249
III 6	Thermal	instabilities	251
111.0	III 6 a	Qualitative analysis role of the thermal	201
	111.0.0)	conductivity anisotrony	251
	III.6.b)	Thermal conductivity anisotropy	253
	III.6.c)	Heat focusing	254
	III.6.d)	Calculating the instability threshold in planar geometry	255
	III.6.e)	Instabilities in homeotropic geometry	260
	III.6.f)	Experimental evidence	261
	III.6.g)	Thermal instabilities in the presence of a magnetic field	263
Appe	ndix 1: "D	erivation under the integral" theorem	270
Δ	ndin 0. D	stational identity	 070
Appe	naix 2: Ro	Dialional Identity	272

Appe	ndix 3: Ca	alculation of the irreversible entropy production	273			
Appe	ndix 4: Ei foi	nergy dissipation and constitutive laws in the rmalism of Leslie-Ericksen-Parodi	274			
Appe	ppendix 5: The Rayleigh-Bénard instability in isotropic fluids					
Char	pter B.IV	V Defects and textures in nematics	283			
IV.1	Polarizir	ng microscope observations	284			
IV.2	The Volt <i>IV.2.a)</i> <i>IV.2.b)</i>	Serra-de Gennes-Friedel process Symmetry elements of a uniaxial nematic Generating a disclination	289 289 289			
IV.3	Energy of	of a wedge planar line in isotropic elasticity	293			
IV.4	Continue	ous core model: Landau-Ginzburg-de Gennes free energy	296			
IV.5	Interacti	ion energy between two parallel wedge lines	300			
IV.6	Dynamic	cs of a planar wedge line: calculating the friction force	302			
IV.7	Wedge li <i>IV.7.a)</i> <i>IV.7.b)</i> <i>IV.7.c)</i>	ine stability: escape in the third dimension Topological stability Energetic stability (infinite medium) Disclinations in a confined medium (capillary tube)	$311 \\ 311 \\ 313 \\ 316$			
IV.8	Bloch an IV.8.a) IV.8.b) IV.8.c)	ad Ising walls induced by the Frederiks instability Experimental setup Theoretical predictions Comparison with experiment	323 323 324 332			
Chap	oter B.V	Anchoring and anchoring transitions				
		of nematics on solid surfaces	339			
V.1	Precurso	ors	340			
V.2	On the notion of interface					
V.3	Interface of the dif	e symmetry and classification fferent types of anchoring	342			
V.4	Wetting	and anchoring selection	348			
V.5	Anchorin V.5.a) V.5.b) V.5.c)	ng transitions Anchoring transitions on evaporated SiO layers Anchoring transitions on muscovite mica Anchoring transitions on gypsum	$354 \\ 354 \\ 358 \\ 365$			
V.6	Measuri	ng the anchoring energy in the homeotropic case	366			

Char	oter B.V.	I The nematic-isotropic liquid interface: static properties and directional growth instabilities	371
VI.1	Anchorir width of	ng angle, surface tension, and the nematic-isotropic interface	372
VI.2 VI.3	Landau-Ginzburg-de Gennes theory Instabilities in confined geometry		
VI.4	I.4 Elastic correction to the Gibbs-Thomson relation		
VI.5	Direction VI.5.a)	al growth of the nematic-isotropic liquid front Experimental observation of the	396 206
	VI.5.b)	Secondary instabilities in the rapid solidification	390 400
	VI.5.c)	Depinning of a disclination line	400
Char	oter B.V.	II Cholesterics: the first example of a frustrated mesophase	415
VII.1	Choleste	ric frustration	416
VII.2	Choleste the chole <i>VII.2.a</i> ) <i>VII.2.b</i> ) <i>VII.2.c</i> )	ric order parameter and esteric-isotropic liquid phase transition Structure and symmetry Order parameter for the cholesteric phase Grebel, Hornreich, and Shtrikman theory of the isotropic liquid $\rightarrow$ cholesteric transition	420 420 422 423
VII.3	Optical p	properties of the cholesteric phase	429
VII.4	Defects a VII.4.a) VII.4.b) VII.4.c) VII.4.d)	and textures of the cholesteric phase $\dots$ "The Grandjean-Cano wedge"	438 438 445 446 450
VII.5	Unwindi VII.5.a) VII.5.b)	ng transition	$\begin{array}{c} 453\\ 453\end{array}$
	VII.5.c)	geometrical frustration: experimental evidence Representing the TIC and the fingers on the S2 sphere:	457
	VII.5.d) VII.5.e) VII.5.f) VII.5.g)	application to the confinement-induced unwinding transition Landau-Ginzburg model derived only on symmetry grounds The combined action of frustration and an electric field Spherulites Fingers of the second and third kinds	461 467 468 471 473

	VII.5.h)	Dynamics of the fingers of the first and second kind :	
		crawling and cholesteric spirals	477
	VII.5.i)	When the sample is much thicker than the	
		cholesteric pitch: Helfrich-Hurault instability	480
VII.6	Choleste	ric hydrodynamics	481
	VII.6.a)	Permeation	481
	VII.6.b)	Lehmann rotation	483
Chapt	er B.VII	I Blue Phases: a second example	
· · · <b>·</b>		of a frustrated mesophase	. 493
VIII 1	Experim	ental evidence for the cubic symmetry	
, 111.1	of Blue F	Phases I and II	494
	VIII.1.a)	Saupe's crucial experiment and the $O^5$ model	494
	VIII.1.b)	Bragg reflections and polycrystalline textures	496
	VIII.1.c)	Bragg reflections from monocrystals	498
	,		
VIII.2	Uniaxial	models for the Blue Phases: disclination lattices	502
	VIII.2.a)	Double twist cylinders	502
	VIII.2.b)	Simple cubic model with $O^2$ symmetry	504
	VIII.2.c)	Body-centered cubic model with $O^8$ symmetry	507
	V111.2.d)	Blue Phases and minimal periodic surfaces	508
VIII.3	Biaxial r	nodel of the Blue Phases	
	by Grebe	el, Hornreich, and Shtrikman	512
VIII.4	Landau	theory of the Blue Phases	
	by Grebe	el, Hornreich, and Shtrikman	516
VIII 5	Experim	ents	522
111.0	VIII.5.a)	Kossel diagrams of Blue Phases I and II	524
	VIII.5.b)	Faceting of cubic Blue Phases	527
	VIII.5.c)	Growth and steps	530
	VIII.5.d)	Effect of an electric field on the Blue Phases	532
	VIII.5.e)	Elasticity of the Blue Phases	544
VIII.6	BPIII or	Blue Fog	547
	D DV		
Chapt	er B.IX	Uverview of growth phenomena and the Mulling Sekorka instability	559
		the muning-sekerka instability	003
IX.1	Gibbs-Th	nomson relation and the phase diagram	
	of a dilut	ted binary mixture	554
IX.2	The min	imal model	558
IX.3	Stationa	ry plane front	559

	IX.3.a)	Existence condition	559		
	IX.3.b)	Plane front in directional growth	561		
	IX.3.c) IX.3.d) IX.3.e)	Nucleation thresholds: the "constitutional undercooling" and "constitutional superheating" criteria The mechanisms of the Mullins-Sekerka instability Linear stability of the plane front in the kinetic regime	$563 \\ 566 \\ 567$		
IX.4	Plane fro <i>IX.4.a)</i> <i>IX.4.b)</i>	Plane front in the diffusive regime ( $\Delta < 1$ ) X.4.a) Zener approximation X.4.b) Exact calculation in the $\mu = 0$ case			
IX.5	Free grov IX.5.a)	with of a circular germ in the diffusive regime $(0 < \Delta < 1)$ Radius evolution law as a function of the supersaturation	583		
	IX.5.b)	Linear stability analysis	$585 \\ 587$		
IX.6	Free growth of a circular germ in the kinetic regime ( $\Delta > 1$ )				
IX.7	The Ivantsov dendrite $(0 \le \Delta \le 1)$				

### Smectic and Columnar Liquid Crystals (in preparation)

### $PART \ C: Smectic \ \text{and} \ columnar \ \text{Liquid crystals}$

### Chapter C.I Structure of the smectic A phase and the transition to the nematic phase

- I.1 Lamellar structure of smectics A
- I.2 Smectic A-nematic transition: simplified theory
- I.3 De Gennes' theory of the smectic A-nematic transition: analogy with superconductivity I.3.a) Complex order parameter

- I.3.b) Physical meaning of the phase of the smectic order parameter: "Meissner effect" in smectics
- I.3.c) Landau-Ginzburg-de Gennes free energy
- I.4 Pretransitional effects in the nematic phase
  - I.4.a) X-ray scattering
  - *I.4.b)* Divergence of the elastic coefficients  $K_2$  and  $K_3$
  - *I.4.c)* Unexpected pretransitional effects
- I.5 Influence of the fluctuations in director orientation on the transition order: the theory of Halperin, Lubensky, and Ma
- I.6 Other theories
- Appendix 1: Vortices in superconductors and screw dislocations
  - 1) Meissner effect: experimental
  - 1) Meissner effect: theoretical interpretation
  - 3) Superconductors of the first and second kind
  - 4) Structure of a vortex in superconductors
  - 5) Structure of a screw dislocation

Appendix 2: X-ray scattering and calculation of the structure factor

#### Chapter C.II Continuum theory of hydrodynamics in smectics A

- II.1 Static description
  - II.1.a) Distortion free energy
  - II.1.b) Connection with the Landau-Ginzburg-de Gennes theory
- II.2 Layer undulation instability
  - II.2.a) Penetration length  $\lambda$
  - II.2.b) Anharmonic correction
  - *II.2.c)* Undulation instability
  - II.2.d) Undulation instability induced by a magnetic field (Helfrich-Hurault)
- II.3 Equations of smectic hydrodynamics
  - II.3.a) The equations of conservation
  - II.3.b) Constitutive laws: irreversible entropy production
- II.4 Sound propagation in smectics
- II.5 Continuous flows
  - II.5.a) Permeation flow
  - II.5.b) Flow around an obstacle
    - *i)* Sphere moving parallel to the layers
    - *ii)* Sphere moving perpendicular to the layers
    - iii) Flow around a ribbon perpendicular to layers
  - *II.5.c)* Anomalies in Poiseuille flow parallel to the layers

#### Chapter C.III Dislocations, focal conics, and rheology of smectics A

- III.1 Focal conics
  - III.1.a) Topology of focal domains of types I and II III.1.b) Energy of a focal domain III.1.c) Oily streak and Grandjean walls
- III.2 Dislocations
  - III.2.a) Definitions
  - III.2.b) Edge dislocations
    - *i)* Experimental observation
    - ii) Elastic energy and deformation field
    - iii) Peach and Koehler force
    - iv) Interaction with a free surface or a solid wall
    - v) Dislocation bunching inside a wedge
    - vi) Friction force on an edge dislocation
    - vii)Trapping of a solid particle by a moving edge dislocation (Orowan process)
  - III.2.c) Screw dislocations
    - i) Experimental observation
    - ii) Elastic energy
    - iii) Line tension
    - iv) Mobility of a screw dislocation
  - III.2.d) Dislocation crossing
- III.3 Rheological behavior at low shear rate and lubrication theory
  - *III.3.a*) Lubrication theory in shear parallel to the layers
  - III.3.b) Measurement of the intrinsic viscosity by the floating-plate technique: role of the screw dislocations
  - III.3.c) Measurement of the intrinsic viscosity  $\eta_3$  in oscillating shear
  - III.3.d) Rheological behavior under shear parallel to the layers in the presence of focal domains
  - III.3.e) Shear perpendicular to the layers
  - *III.3.f)* Continuous shear of deoriented samples

III.4 Rheological behavior at high shear rate

- III.4.a) Orientation diagram in a thermotropic liquid crystal
- III.4.b) Orientation diagrams and onions in the lamellar phases of lyotropic liquid crystals
- III.5 Microplasticity
  - III.5.a) Creep under compression normal to the layers and helical instabilities of screw dislocations
  - III.5.b) Creep in dilation normal to the layers and nucleation of a focal parabolas lattice

#### Chapter C.IV Ferroelectric and antiferroelectric mesophases

- IV.1 Do ferroelectric mesophases exist?
- IV.2 Genesis of the smectic C\* phase
   IV.2.a) Structure of the smectic C phase
   IV.2.b) Structure of the smectic C\* phase: synthesis of DOBAMBC
   IV.2.c) Spontaneous polarization and ichthyology
- IV.3 Experimental evidence of the spontaneous polarization
   IV.3.a) Experimentum crucis
   IV.3.b) Interpretation of the experiment
  - i) Conoscopic figure of the SmC\* phase at rest
  - ii) Deformation of the SmC\* phase by the electric field
  - iii) Conoscopic figure of the deformed SmC\*
- IV.4 Measurement and use of the spontaneous polarization
   IV.4.a) Principle of SmC\* displays
   IV.4.b) Measuring the polarization
- IV.5 Hydroelectric effect

#### IV.6 Electromechanical effect

#### IV.7 The $SmA \rightarrow SmC^*$ transition

- IV.7.a) "Landau" model and order parameters  $\theta$  and P
- IV.7.b) Experimental findings in enantiomer mixture when the SmA-SmC\* transition is second order
- *IV.7.c) Electroclinic effect*
- IV.7.d) Induced SmC\* phases, eutectic mixtures
- IV.8 Anticlinic, mesophases, antiferroelectric and ferrielectric
  - *IV.8.a)* The concept of an anticlinic structure
  - IV.8.b) First experimental suggestion of the anticlinic phase
  - IV.8.c)  $SmO = SmC_A$
  - IV.8.d) Dispirations in the SmC<sub>A</sub> phase
  - IV.8.e) Optical properties of the  $SmC_A$  phase
  - *IV.8.f*) Optical properties of the  $SmC_A^*$  phase
  - IV.8.g) Ferrielectric phases
  - IV.8.h) Resonant X-ray scattering
- IV.9 Mesophases formed by banana-shaped molecules

#### Chapter C.V The twist-grain boundary smectics

- V.1 The Renn-Lubensky model
  - V.1.a) Structure of the dislocation lattice
  - V.1.b) Commensurate or incommensurate  $TGB_A$  phases
  - V.1.c) Structure factor of the cholesteric phase close to a  $TGB_A$  phase

- V.1.d) Structure factor of  $TGB_A$  phases
- V.1.e) Where to search for TGB phases
- V.1.f) How to increase the penetration length  $\lambda$
- V.2 Discovery of the TGB<sub>A</sub> phase
  - V.2.a) Announcement of the discovery by the Bell group
  - V.2.b) Grandjean textures of the TGB phase
  - V.2.c) X-ray diffraction spectra
  - V.2.d) Shapes of TGB droplets
  - V.2.e)  $TGB_A$  phases in other materials
  - V.2.f) Commensurate  $TGB_A$  phases
- V.3 Other TGB phases
  - V.3.a) Theory of the TGB phases close to the NAC multicritical Lifshitz point
  - V.3.b) Discovery of the  $TGB_{C}$  phase
  - V.3.c) Behavior of TGB phases under electric field
- V.4 Elasticity of TGB phases
  - V.4.a) TGB phases confined in a Cano wedge
  - V.4.b) An approximation of the deformation energy
  - V.4.c) Quantitative analysis of the texture of a TGB phase in a Cano wedge
  - V.4.d) An alternative expression for the deformation energy
  - V.4.e) Texture of the  $TGB_C$  phase confined in a Cano wedge
- V.5 Smectic Blue Phases
  - V.5.a) Experimental evidence
  - V.5.b) Properties of smectic Blue Phases
  - *V.5.c)* Smectic order in double-twist cylinders
  - V.5.d) Structure factor of a double-twist cylinder

#### **Chapter C.VI Hexatic smectics**

- VI.1 Theory of two-dimensional melting: the hexatic phase
  - VI.1.a) The concept of crystalline order
  - VI.1.b) Peierls disorder: the generic case of a broken symmetry phase described by a complex order parameter
  - VI.1.c) Effect of phonons on the positional order in two-dimensional crystals
  - VI.1.d) Orientational order of near-neighbor molecular bonds in 2D crystals
  - VI.1.e) Theory of melting in two dimensions: the hexatic phase

#### VI.2 Hexatic smectics

- VI.2.a) The search for hexatic mesophases
- VI.2.b) Observation of  $2\pi/6$  disclinations in SmI films

#### CONTENTS

- VI.2.c) The two order parameters of the SmI phase
- VI.2.d) Pindak scar and elasticity of the SmI phase
- VI.2.e) Experimental demonstration of hexatic order by X-ray and electron diffraction
- VI.3 Quasi-elastic light scattering

#### VI.4 Rheology

VI.4.a) Viscoelasticity of a free film VI.4.b) Rheology of bulk samples

Appendix 1: Peierls disorder

#### Chapter C.VII The smectic B plastic crystal

- VII.1 Structure of smectic B phases
- VII.2 Elastic and plastic properties
  VII.2.a) Micro-plasticity
  VII.2.b) Plastic behavior under strong deformation
  VII.2.c) Layer buckling instability
- VII.3 Equilibrium shape of a smectic B germ
- VII.4 Herring instability
- VII.5 Instabilities of the SmA-SmB front in directional growth VII.5.a) The rough case
  VII.5.b) The "forbidden" case
  VII.5.c) The faceted case
  VII.5.d) On the kinetics of facets
  VII.5.e) Stress relaxation and layer buckling

Appendix 1: Creep by crossing of localized obstacles

#### **Chapter C.VIII Smectic free films**

VIII.1 Making smectic films
VIII.1.a) How to "stretch" a smectic film?
VIII.1.b) Temperature and humidity control
VIII.1.c) Basic structural elements of smectic films: menisci, pores, islands, steps and nodes

- VIII.2 Some crucial experiments VIII.2.a) Measurement of film thickness VIII.2.b) Measurement of film tension
- VIII.3 Thermodynamics of thermotropic films VIII.3.a) Measurement of the meniscus profile and of the contact angle between the film and its meniscus

VIII.3.b) Meniscus profile and the Laplace law VIII.3.c) Film tension VIII.3.d) Disjoining pressure and contact angle  $\theta_m$ VIII.3.e) Pre-smectic films VIII.3.f) Gravitation effects on the tension and the shape of the films

- VIII.4 Steps in smectic films
  - VIII.4.a) Nucleation and growth of an isolated loop
  - VIII.4.b) Critical radius and associated nucleation energy
  - VIII.4.c) Line tension of a step in a vertical film
  - VIII.4.d) Dynamics of an isolated loop
    - *i*) Global approach
    - *ii)* Local approach
  - VIII.4.e) Dynamics of two separate loops
  - VIII.4.f) Dynamics of two concentric loops
  - VIII.4.g) Dynamics of two crossing loops
  - VIII.4.h) Dissipation and pressure drop in the meniscus
  - VIII.4.i) Nucleation dynamics of a loop
    - *i*) *Nucleation using a hot wire*
    - *ii)* Nucleation in a film under tension or compression
- VIII.5 Film structure and phase transitions at a fixed number of layers VIII.5 = VIII.5 = 0.000
  - VIII.5.a) The SmA $\rightarrow$ SmC\* transition: optical measurements
  - VIII.5.b) The  $SmA \rightarrow SmC^*$  transition: theoretical models
    - i) Thick films: the bulk  $SmA \rightarrow SmC^*$  transition is first order ii) Thin films: the bulk  $SmA \rightarrow SmC^*$  transition is second order
  - VIII.5.c)  $SmA \rightarrow SmB_{cryst}$  transition in 40.8: mechanical measurements
  - VIII.5.d) AC calorimetry and the "SmA-SmBhex" transition
  - VIII.5.e) Polymorphism of 70.7 films as revealed by X-ray diffraction
  - *VIII.5.f)* Can we hear the structure of the smectic films?
    - Film vibrations and polymorphism of 70.7 films
    - *i)* Vibrations of planar films
    - *ii)* Vibrations of curved films
    - *iii)* Thermal expansion of smectic phases
- VIII.6 Smectic films as model systems
  - VIII.6.a) Isospectral planar drums
  - VIII.6.b) Fractal planar drums
  - VIII.6.c) Quantum billiards and diabolic points
  - VIII.6.d) Stability and vibrations of a catenoid
  - VIII.6.e) Nonlinear phenomena in vibrating films
  - VIII.6.f) Backflow and topological flows in SmC films
    - *i) c*-director field in SmC films
    - ii) Brownian motion of a disclination
    - iii) Phase winding and backflow
    - iv) The paradox of the magic spiral
    - v) Topological flows

#### CONTENTS

VIII.6.g) Orbital motion of Cladis disclination lines VIII.6.h) Molecular diffusion in films

#### Chapter C.IX Columnar phases

- IX.1 Structure and optical properties
- IX.2 Elasticity
- IX.3 Developable domains
  - IX.3.a) General construction
    - i) Metric properties
    - *ii)* Angular properties
    - IX.3.b) Fan-shaped textures
    - IX.3.c) Association rules for wedge lines
    - IX.3.d) Fan-shaped textures in rectangular phases of the  $P2_1/a$  type

#### IX.4 Dislocations

- IX.4.a) Direct observation
- IX.4.b) Classification of dislocations in a hexagonal phase
- IX.4.c) Dislocation energies
- IX.4.d) Walls in hexagonal phases
- IX.4.e) Twist kink and movement of wedge lines
- IX.5 Measurement of the elastic constants
- IX.6 Mechanical instabilities
   IX.6.a) Thermo-mechanical striations
   IX.6.b) Mechanical instabilities induced by large deformations
- IX.7 Dynamics of buckling instabilities
- IX.8 Light scattering

#### IX.9 Threads of columnar mesophases IX.9.a) Preliminary observation under the polarizing microscope

- IX.9.b) Study of the threads by X-ray diffraction
- IX.9.c) On the stability of the threads
- IX.9.d) Thread vibrations

#### Chapter C.X Growth of a hexagonal columnar phase

- X.1 Phase diagram and material constants
  - X.1.a) Phase diagram
  - *X.1.b)* Surface tension and anisotropy
  - X.1.c) Diffusion constants
- X.2 Growth in the diffusive regime  $(0 \le \Delta \le 1)$

- X.2.a) Destabilization of a circular germ and weakly nonlinear evolution in the petal-shape regime
- *X.2.b)* The dendritic regime
- X.2.c) The sidebranches and the regime of dense sidebranching
- X.3 Growth in the kinetic regime ( $\Delta > 1$ )
  - X.3.a) The quenching method
  - X.3.b) Measurements of the kinetic coefficient and of the threshold of absolute restabilization
  - X.3.c) Kinetic Wulff construction and the kinetic coefficient anisotropy

### Foreword

Having witnessed, thirty or forty years ago in Orsay, the revival of liquid crystal research, Patrick Oswald and Pawel Pieranski's book shows me that this area is still very open. Of course, the impact of new applications probably has shifted from the industrial manufacturing of displays to the understanding of biological processes, and justly so, one may say, since the discoverer of the field, F. Reinitzer, saw in the textures of mesophases the hallmark of life!

This richness of behavior was then thoroughly studied by O. Lehmann, but the main merit of F. Grandjean and my grandfather G. Friedel was no doubt that they obtained, by careful observation of the simplest cases, a clear comprehension of the structure of these bodies at the molecular level. By distinguishing the most ordered state possible and the textures produced by the appearance of defects, they opened the way for a systematic study of the equilibrium phases exhibited by these anisotropic liquids; they also started the study of the defects leading to these deformations, especially the rotation dislocations or disclinations.

If G. Friedel's 1922 paper paved the way, it was P.-G. de Gennes' first book on liquid crystals, in 1974, that rekindled this research activity, still very active to this day. P. Oswald and P. Pieranski participated, among many others, in this revival. This book is a result of thorough personal research and of the graduate courses taught by the two authors, one at the École Normale Supérieure de Lyon and the other at the University of Paris VII (Denis Diderot).

One may wonder about the value of this new work, in an area already covered by a significant number of recent publications, also cited by the authors.

The first immediate answer is found just by reading the table of contents. If the two volumes are split according to the classical separation between what one might call three-dimensional anisotropic liquids (nematics and cholesterics) and those that are liquid only along two directions or even just (smectic and columnar phases, respectively), we notice the important weight given to topics that have only received limited coverage elsewhere in the literature, among them surface phenomena (anchoring, faceting) and the dynamics of growth or deformation. From this point of view, we can only regret the absence of any discussion on mesomorphic polymers.

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

To me, however, what fully justifies this work is its style, which strives to be as clear and as close to the experimental side as possible. A genuine pedagogical effort was deployed, no doubt a result of the authors' continuous contact with students.

There are only three minor criticisms I would like to offer to the authors:

1. The use of arrows to denote the molecular orientation is only justified in the magnetic case, when the elementary magnets exhibit dipolar order; it is however not adapted to the quadrupolar molecular order observed in liquid crystals. The by now classical use of nail-shaped symbols reminds one of this property and, by the length of the nail, represents the orientation of the molecules with respect to the plane of the image, going from the dash (parallel) to the dot (perpendicular to the plane). Notwithstanding a cautionary note of the authors, I fear that the use of both notations might be confusing to the reader.

2. To simplify their discussion of disclinations, the authors replace the Volterra process of general rotation by de Gennes' process, where the rotation is distributed over the surface of the slit. This is perfectly justified and easier to understand in the case of nematics, where all translations are relaxed by liquid movements. However, the equivalence of the two processes does not hold in the other cases, where liquid relaxation is more complex: in cholesterics, for instance, this presentation poses difficulties in accounting for the distribution of translation dislocations involved in the curvature of disclinations. Similarly, one can also regret the too brief discussion of the topological analysis of defects, which shows its full strength in complex smectics. Finally, concerning the description of Blue Phases, the seminal role of J.-F. Sadoc and M. Kléman in the concepts of projection from a curved space and in the analysis of twist is not sufficiently emphasized.

3. The growth instabilities as such merit a short appendix, rather than an entire chapter. The role of B. Chalmers as a forerunner might have been mentioned, without necessarily proceeding all the way to the distinction made by G. Friedel, in his crystallography lessons (1926), between equilibrium facets, characterized by the law of P. Curie and the Wulff construction, and the development of slow growth facets in dendritic growth. I am nevertheless certain that it was by studying the shapes of mesomorphic "rods" that G. Friedel was able to make this distinction, in the early 1920s.

Overall, this book leaves both a solid and stimulating impression. Everything relating to molecular configuration, to optics (however complex, as shown by Ch. Maugin), to dielectric properties and to (anti) ferroelectrics, to elasticity, the laminar flows and the buckling towards the first instabilities, is described in an authoritative and detailed manner, as are the properties of textures and plastic deformations, involving the appearance of the defects typical for these phases. But, if the authors were directly involved in the study of these aspects, it might have been noted that the topic itself is more complex and this study is far from complete.

Of course, I appreciate the emphasis given, at the beginning of the book, to the contribution of G. Friedel to the field. The 1922 paper in Annales de Physique, which established his reputation, was written upon his arrival at Strasbourg University in 1919 to head the Institute of Mineralogy. Coming from the École des Mines in Saint-Étienne, where he worked and which he directed, he could not become a university professor, according to the rules of the time, for lack of both B.Sc. and Ph.D degrees. He most certainly wrote this paper, mainly describing his own activities, in order to prove that a thesis posed him no problems. This paper struck a note among the specialists and, notably, defined the main terms of the domain, inspired by his penchant for the humanities and a daughter who was good at Greek. This success undoubtedly overshadowed in the minds of readers the original contributions of Friedel's friend F. Grandjean, as Y. Bouligand likes to point out. On the other hand, of course, this paper cannot mention the subsequent work of G. Friedel. It is for instance certain that he saw the Grandjean walls in cholesterics as singular lines, bordering the additional half-pitch on one side of the wall, initially sketched by Grandjean as in Figure B.VII.18 of the present work. His joint paper with my father E. Friedel states this clearly at the liquid crystal conference in 1930, published in Zeitschrift für Kristallographie (1931, pp. 1 and 297). After having situated this line on one of the surfaces of the mica wedge (used by Grandjean long before Cano), it appears, according to my father, that G. Friedel realized it was more obvious to place it in the middle of the sample, as proposed much later by researchers in Orsay (cf. figure B.VII.26). At any rate, it is certain that he likened the Grandjean wall to what later would be called a translation dislocation line of the edge type, that he observed its thermal displacement, its pinning on impurities as well as the possibility, in the wedge geometry, of producing a weakly disoriented sub-grain boundary between two slightly mismatched ordered phases. It was only in 1939 that J.M. Burgers predicted such sub-grain boundaries in crystals, and only as late as 1947 did P. Lacombe find them in aluminum. This 1931 conference also discusses the direct X-ray measurements of the layered structure of smectics, performed by E. Friedel in M. de Broglie's laboratory (C. R. Acad. Sci. 176, 738, 1922 and 180, 209, 1925, cf. Zeitschrift für Kristallographie, 1931, pp. 134 and 325).

More generally, it is noteworthy that such a rich and varied area of research went unnoticed by the mainstream scientists until the end of the 1960s. And when recognition finally came, the surge of interest was prompted by the applications. At first glance, this is very surprising, especially since the experiments, though not always easy to perform, are not complex, and since in the 1940s and 1950s the physicists were absolutely ready for the mesoscopic scale arguments, constantly employed ever since. A paper by F.C. Frank in the 1940s had even emphasized the existence of rotation dislocations, but no one, least of all myself, understood the essential role of liquid relaxation in the creation and movement of these lines in liquid crystals. P.-G. de Gennes would certainly point out that the applications relaunched the scientific investigation. The lack of interest in liquid crystals may also have resulted from their apparent lack of applications, at a time of intense research on crystal dislocations and their role in plasticity and growth. At any rate, this example should inspire a certain modesty and warn us against too early abandoning a research field considered to be exhausted.

In conclusion, I would like to cite again G. Friedel at the 1930 Conference (p. 320), saying that none of the three approaches – the naturalist, the physicist, and the mathematician – should be neglected and that a healthy balance must be preserved amongst them! It is no doubt in this spirit that the present work was written.

**Jacques FRIEDEL** 

To our wives, Jocelyne and Héléna

This page intentionally left blank

### **Preface to the English edition**

Liquid crystals were discovered at the end of the 19th century. With properties intermediate between those of solids and liquids, they are known primarily for their widespread use in displays. However, even more important is the fact that they allow us to perform (sometimes very simple) experiments which provide insight into fundamental problems of modern physics, such as phase transitions, frustration, hydrodynamics, defects, nonlinear optics, or surface instabilities. It is in this spirit that we conceived this book, without attempting to exhaustively describe the physical properties of liquid crystals. From this point of view, the book is far from complete; it only reflects a very small part of the enormous work done on this subject over the last thirty years. On the other hand, it provides a thorough treatment of topics reflecting the research interests of the authors, such as growth phenomena, flow and thermal instabilities, or anchoring transitions, which are not described in detail in the fundamental (and already well-known) treatises by P.-G. de Gennes and J. Prost [1], S. Chandrasekhar [2], or P. J. Collings and M. Hird [3]. We also recommend M. Kléman's book on the physics of defects [4] as well as P.M. Chaikin and T.C. Lubensky's book [5], which discusses the general principles of condensed matter physics, often using liquid crystals as an illustration.

We would also like to warn the reader that we use the tensor conventions usually employed in mechanics, and not those of Ericksen, which are employed in references [1] and [2]. Thus, if  $\sigma$  is a second-rank tensor and **n** a vector,  $\sigma$  **n** is a vector with components  $\sigma_{ii}$  n<sub>i</sub> (and not  $\sigma_{ii}$  n<sub>i</sub>). This difference is essential for all materials exhibiting orientational order, such as nematics, where the stress tensor  $\sigma$  is not symmetric. Similarly, div  $\sigma$  is a vector of components  $\sigma_{ij,j}$  (and not  $\sigma_{ij,i}$ ) and the torque associated with the antisymmetric part of the tensor is given by  $-e_{ijk}\sigma_{ik}$  (instead of  $e_{ijk}\sigma_{ik}$ ). Let us also point out that we sometimes use arrows  $\uparrow$  to represent the director field **n** in uniaxial nematics, while the classical representation, which takes into account the  $\mathbf{n} \Leftrightarrow -\mathbf{n}$  symmetry is by "nails" ( $\perp$ ). In our case, these two representations are strictly equivalent, the head of an arrow corresponding to the head of a nail. Finally, we added at the end of this volume a chapter on growth instabilities. Although it goes beyond the domain of liquid crystals, this chapter is very useful for understanding the growth experiments described in chapter B.VI, as well as two other chapters in the second volume, entitled Smectic and Columnar Liquid Crystals: Concepts and Physical Properties Illustrated by *Experiments*, dedicated to the growth of columnar and smectic phases.

In conclusion, we would like to thank all those who contributed to the French and English versions of this book. We thank first of all Professor

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

J. Friedel for his thorough reading of the French manuscript and his observations and informed comments on the history of liquid crystals. We are also grateful to Mr. J. Bechhoefer who suggested many very useful corrections and to Mrs. J. Vidal who corrected the numerous errors which had found their way into the chemical formulas and the associated nomenclature; we also owe her thanks for the calculation and the graphical representation of several molecular configurations.

The translation of the first volume into English is the masterpiece of Mr. Doru Constantin to whom we address especially warm thanks for a very enthusiastic, careful, and punctual accomplishment of this task. Our thanks also go to the financial sponsors of this translation: Mr. B. Bigot from École Normale Supérieure de Lyon, Mr. J. Charvolin from Laboratoire de Physique des Solides in Orsay, Dr. M. Schadt from Rolic Ltd, and Drs. J.-P. Caquet, W. Becker, and J. Gehlhaus from Merck. We also thank Mr. V. Bergeron who was the first critical reader of the English version. The final proof was made by Prof. G.W. Gray, the editor of the Taylor & Francis series on Liquid Crystals. We are grateful to him for numerous corrections and informed comments on the historical and chemical aspects of liquid crystals.

We also thank warmly Ms. C. Andreasen who helped us prepare the PDF printer-ready final files of this book.

Last, but not least, we thank all those with whom we collaborated on the topics presented in this book. In particular, one of the authors (P.P.) wishes to acknowledge his friendly and fruitful collaboration with R. Hornreich on Blue Phases.

[1] De Gennes P.-G., Prost J., *The Physics of Liquid Crystals*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1993.

[2] Chandrasekhar S., *Liquid Crystals*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.

[3] Collings P.J., Hird M., *Introduction to Liquid Crystals*, Taylor & Francis, London, 1997.

[4] Kléman M., Points, Lines and Walls in Liquid Crystals, Magnetic Systems, and Various Ordered Media, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 1983.

[5] Chaikin P.M., Lubensky T.C., *Principles of Condensed Matter Physics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.

### Part A

### **OVERVIEW**

This page intentionally left blank

# Chapter A.I Some history

In this introductory chapter we briefly recall the pioneers in liquid crystals. The first experimental observations date from the 19th century, but liquid crystal physics really began in the early 1920s with G. Friedel. This period was followed by almost half a century of inactivity. It was only in the early 1970s, particularly under the influence of P.-G. de Gennes, that liquid crystal physics entered a stage of expansion that continues to the present day.

Useful complementary information on liquid crystal history can be found in the two papers by H. Kelker published in 1973 and 1988 in *Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals* (vol. 21, pp. 1–48 and vol. 165, pp. 1–43) and in a special issue of *Liquid Crystals* (vol. 5, 1989).

### I.1 Georges Friedel and liquid crystals

Georges Friedel (Fig. A.I.1), the famous French crystallographer of the early 20th century, was the first to suggest that liquid crystals are states of matter in their own right, intermediates between isotropic liquids and crystals. Before Friedel, several scientists of the 19th and 20th centuries had observed liquid crystals without understanding that they were dealing with new states of matter, separated from the liquid state and the crystalline solid state by sharp boundaries (phase transitions). Friedel took this decisive step and described his discovery in the now famous treatise entitled "Mesomorphic States of Matter," published in *Annales de Physique* in 1922 [1]. It is well worth citing some of the crucial passages from this fascinating work. From the very beginning, Friedel declares without false modesty that he intends to bring some order into the state of confusion created by his famous but ill-inspired forerunner, Otto Lehmann:

"By this name ("mesomorphic states of matter") I will designate the uncommon states exhibited by the bodies that Lehmann reported on since 1889 under the name of liquid crystals or crystalline fluids. Upon these denominations, ill-chosen but incessantly repeated for thirty years, many people imagine that the peculiar bodies to which Lehmann had the great merit of drawing attention, but that he was wrong to misname, are nothing more than

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

crystallized substances, differing from the previously known ones simply by their higher or lower degree of fluidity. In fact, all this is about something else completely and infinitely more interesting than merely more or less fluid crystals."



Fig. A.I.1 Georges Friedel, author of "Mesomorphic States of Matter" [1].

Friedel further details his way of understanding the nature of the bodies Lehmann called **fliessende Kristalle** or **flüssige Kristalle**:

"The specificity of Lehmann's substances lies not in their more or less fluid state, but rather in their extremely particular structures, always the same and whose number is very small. I hope that the rest of this work will demonstrate that the bodies reported by Lehmann represent two **entirely new forms of matter**, invariably separated from the crystalline form and the amorphous form (isotropic liquid) by discontinuities, as the crystalline form and the amorphous form are always separated by a discontinuity."

Finally, Friedel names the new states of matter (nematic, cholesteric, and smectic) drawing his inspiration from the Greek language:

"I shall call **smectics** (σμεγμα, soap) the forms, bodies, phases, etc. of the first kind (part of the fliessende Kr., Schleimig flüssige Kr. of Lehmann; liquids with conics), because soaps, in usual temperature conditions, belong to this group and because potassium oleates, in particular, are the first bodies of this group to have been signaled. I shall call **nematics** (νημα, thread) the forms, phases, etc. of the second type (flüssige Kr., Tropfbar flüssige Kr. of Lehmann; liquids with filaments) because of the linear discontinuities, winding like threads, that are their salient feature."

It is also important to specify that Friedel put forward the distinction between two types of nematic mesophases:

"One should distinguish in nematic bodies two different types, between which one can observe **continuous transitions**, as we shall see. I will call the first type: **nematics proper** (liquids with filaments or noyaux, positive nematic liquids); and the second: **the cholesteric type** (liquids with Grandjean planes, negative nematic liquids)."

These four excerpts from Friedel's treatise merit a few historical remarks, especially concerning the forerunners of Friedel.

### I.2 The discovery of birefringence in fluid biological substances by Buffon, Virchow, and Mettenheimer: lyotropic liquid crystals

The seeds of the idea that condensed matter can exist in states different from the isotropic liquid and the crystalline solid appeared about the mid-19th century.



**Fig. A.I.2** Phospholipids are the main ingredients of the cell membrane. a) Chemical formula of phosphatidylcholine (lecithin); b) in aqueous solution, phospholipids gather in bilayers.



**Fig. A.I.3** Recipe for extracting lecithin from egg yolk and producing myelin figures: a-b) mix an egg yolk with 40 ml of acetone; c) filter; d-e) mix the residue of filtration with 40 ml of dichloromethane (CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>); f) filter; g) evaporate the dichloromethane using an appropriate device (rotating evaporator); h) take some lecithin, place it on a microscope slide, and squeeze it under a cover slip; i) add water to the preparation and observe the myelin figures under the polarizing microscope.

At that time, biologists started using the polarizing microscope for studying vegetable and animal tissues, as well as the substances extracted from them (the publication in 1861 of a manual entitled "Die Untersuchung der Pflanzen und Tiergewebe im polarisierten Licht" by G. Valentin shows that the polarizing microscope was among the biologists' instruments at that time).

#### SOME HISTORY

Observed in 1857under the polarizing microscope by the ophthalmologist Mettenheimer, myelin, a soft substance extracted from the nerves, and identified by Virchow in 1850, turned out to be particularly interesting. Indeed, by placing myelin in contact with water, Mettenheimer observed the growth of tubular objects at the myelin-water interface. However, Mettenheimer was not the first (as it is often maintained) to have observed these tubes, now called myelin figures [2]. Similar observations can be traced back to Buffon's complete works, published in 1840, where he speaks of "writhing eels" obtained by dilacerating wheat or rye ergot in water. Obviously, it was not fish, but myelin figures formed by the ergosterol and lecithins contained in these substances.



Fig. A.I.4 Myelin figures: a) observed under a microscope (by J. Nageotte); b) concentric cylinder structure made of phospholipid bilayers.

We know today that myelin consists mostly of phospholipids, molecules that are the main ingredient of cell membranes [3]. The extent of these membranes in nerves is enormous, because of their ramified shape, explaining their high phospholipid content. Egg yolk is another source for phospholipids, and has an important lecithin concentration (Fig. A.I.2). The recipe for extracting lecithin from egg yolk is very simple (Fig. A.I.3), and allows one to reproduce the Virchow-Mettenheimer experiment very easily.

At high concentrations, phospholipids in water are arranged in bilayers. We shall see later (in chapter C.III of Vol. 2 on defects in smectics) that bilayers can take various forms and organize in different manners. For instance, they can fit into each other under the form of concentric cylinders. These cylinders are birefringent and constitute the main elements of the myelin textures visible in figure A.I.4.

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

The arrangment of phospholipids in bilayers is a consequence of their hybrid (**amphiphilic**) molecular anatomy. Indeed, one end of the molecule is hydrophilic, while the other is hydrophobic. The same amphiphilic character is found in soaps which, chemically speaking, are nothing other than fatty acid salts, and therefore derivatives of biological substances. In his treatise (last phrase in section I.1), Friedel alludes to potassium oleate (Fig. A.I.5) whose aqueous solutions, studied at that time by Perrin, also presented, in certain concentrations, a structure of stacked-up bilayers.



Fig. A.I.5 Molecular structure of potassium oleate. The chain is unsaturated, with a double bond at  $C_{9}$ .

In conclusion, the first mesophases were **discovered in aqueous** solutions of amphiphilic molecules. Today, they are termed lyotropic liquid crystals, in contrast to thermotropic phases that do not contain water.

### I.3 Observation of the surprising behavior of cholesteryl esters by Planer and Reinitzer: thermotropic liquid crystals

Friedel knew that liquid birefringent phases existed not only in solutions, but also in pure bodies. Once more, it is the biologists who set the physicists on the right track. The story begins with cholesterol [3], a substance extracted from plants. In the 19th century, its chemical structure was still unknown;

#### SOME HISTORY

however, it was classified among alcohols, since one could prepare cholesteryl esters (Fig. A.I.6) by reaction with fatty acids. The biologists Planer in 1861 [4] and Reinitzer in 1888 [5] noticed its opaqueness and the iridescent colors exhibited by these esters upon melting from the crystalline phase or upon cooling from the isotropic liquid. Reinitzer also knew that the optical properties of materials interested some physicists of his time.



Fig. A.I.6 Molecular structure of cholesteryl nonanoate and its phase transitions. The structures of the cholesteric and smectic phases will be described in the following chapter.

In particular, Reinitzer knew of Otto Lehmann for his work on crystal growth and the changes of crystalline structure induced, for instance, by temperature (crystalline polymorphism). That is why, in 1888, he sent Lehmann a 16-page letter, presenting in detail his surprising observations on the properties of cholesteryl esters. Here is an excerpt:

"The two substances (cholesteryl esters) hold such beautiful and peculiar phenomena that I hope they will be of the greatest interest to you.(...) **The** substance (cholesteryl benzoate) has two melting points, if one may say so. At about 145.5°C it melts, forming a turbid, but completely fluid liquid, that suddenly becomes completely clear at about 178.5°C. On cooling it, blue and violet colors appear that rapidly get dim, leaving the substance opaque but still fluid. If one cools it further, one sees the blue and violet colors reappear and, immediately afterwards, the substance solidifies forming a white crystalline mass (...) The turbidity that appears upon heating is not due to crystals, but rather to the liquid forming oily streaks."

### I.4 Fliessende Kristalle or "the flowing crystals" of Otto Lehmann

The physicist and the biologist started corresponding. After confirming Reinitzer's findings with his own observations, Lehmann published in 1889 in the *Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie* a paper entitled "Über fliessende Kristalle," thus coining the name "liquid crystals" [6]. What surprised Lehmann the most was that Reinitzer's substance, although fluid, was birefringent, one of the features of solid crystals. The way he put it was:

"If one trusts the interpretation of the experimental observations, this is so far the only case when a crystalline substance, showing considerable birefringence, has such a weak mechanical strength that it can hardly resist the action of its own weight."

The publication of Lehmann's paper was immediately followed by the observation of a similar combination of birefringence and fluidity in other substances, such as *para*-azoxyanisole (PAA) synthesized and studied in Heidelberg by Gattermann, who communicated his results to Lehmann right away. Emphasizing that the viscosity of this new substance was much lower than in cholesteryl esters, Lehmann introduced in 1890 another designation: "Kristalline Flüssigkeiten" or crystalline liquids.



Di-methoxyazoxybenzene (p-azoxyanisole)

 Solid
 118.2°C
 135.3°C

 29.57 kJ
 Nematic
 →

 0.57 kJ
 0.57 kJ

Fig. A.I.7 Molecular structure and sequence of phase transitions for PAA (para-azoxyanisole).

The years following the seminal works of Lehmann saw an increasing volume of similar observations, and the question of the real molecular structure of "liquid crystals" or "crystalline liquids" became more and more important. Heated debates opposed those that pleaded for chemically and physically homogeneous phases to the ones holding that the optical turbidity was a result of either demixing impure substances or incomplete melting of the crystalline

#### SOME HISTORY

phase. And even for those considering the phases homogeneous, the question was if they were to be classified among (flowing) crystals or, on the contrary, in a category of their own.

It is in this state of conceptual and terminological confusion that Georges Friedel came up with the idea that these phases were **distinct states** of matter whose molecular structures were intermediary (*meso*morphic) between the crystals and ordinary liquids. At the same time, he proposed a classification of mesomorphic states which is still in use today and that will be described (in its modern form) in the next chapter.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Friedel G., "Mesomorphic States of Matter," Annales de Physique, 18 (1922) 273.
- [2] Bouligand Y., private communication.
- [3] Stryer L., chapter 10, "Introduction to biological membranes," *Biochemistry*, W.H. Freeman, New York, 1975.
- [4] Planer P., Liebigs Ann., 118 (1861) 25.
- [5] Reinitzer F., "Contributions to the knowledge of Cholesterol," *Liq. Cryst.*, 5 (1989) 7. English translation of the original paper published in 1888 in *Monatshefte für Chemie*, 9, pp. 421–441.
- [6] Lehmann O., "Über fliessende Kristalle," Zs. Phys. Ch., 4 (1889) 462.

### Chapter A.II

# Modern classification of liquid crystals

We begin this chapter with a brief summary of the principles used by Georges Friedel to classify liquid crystals (section II.1). As will be seen, this classification is not complete and it can be extended by employing the very general notion of broken symmetry (section II.2). We then return to the classification of smectic and columnar phases (sections II.3 and II.4, respectively).

### II.1 The terminology introduced by Georges Friedel

#### II.1.a) Polymorphism and mesomorphic states

As stated in the previous chapter, Friedel was the first to speak of "mesomorphic states." By this designation of liquid crystalline phases, Friedel intended, on the one hand, to avoid the semantic controversies triggered by the discrepancy of the terms "crystalline" and "liquid" and, on the other hand, to point out that they were genuine states of matter whose molecular properties are intermediary (*meso*-morphic) between those of crystals and those of ordinary liquids. By reading certain passages of his 1922 treatise (see the previous chapter), one notices that, by speaking of mesomorphic *states*, in the plural, Friedel already knew that at least two structures could combine crystalline anisotropy and fluidity. Perhaps his idea of mesomorphic polymorphism was an analogy with the crystalline polymorphism, a notion well established by that time. As a matter of fact, Friedel knew very well that the same substance could display different crystalline structures depending on the temperature or pressure. In his other work, "Lessons in crystallography," Friedel actually gave a complete overview of the 230 space groups allowing for

the classification of all possible crystalline structures in three dimensions [1a]. However, since he only knew two mesomorphic structures, Friedel's idea of mesomorphic polymorphism was a jump ahead. The future proved him right, as the number of mesophases with different symmetries known today is large, with the count still ongoing.

#### II.1.b) Nematic and cholesteric phases

If the term "mesomorphic" and the concept of mesomorphic polymorphism stood the test of time, one can wonder if Friedel's other terminological proposals were equally correct. The last passage from Friedel's treatise cited in the previous chapter shows that the choice of the name "nematic" was based on microscope observations of "linear discontinuities" (thread-like texture shown in figure A.II.1). Polarized light observations allowed Friedel to deduce the configuration of the optical axes around these lines and to characterize them as orientational singularities of the optical axis (similar observations had also been made by Lehmann and, later, by Grandjean).



Fig. A.II.1 Thread-like texture observed in a free drop of uniaxial nematic liquid crystal. Thin and thick threads correspond to two different kinds of line defects.

Was Friedel right in speaking of line defects? One might doubt it, since today condensed phases are classified by the type of symmetry breaking they present with respect to the liquid isotropic phase. We shall see that, according to these criteria, a "nematic" is a phase whose only broken symmetry is orientational and whose order parameter is quadrupolar. Yet we shall also find out that the line defects observed by Friedel are nothing other than topological defects (nowadays termed disclinations) of the nematic order

#### MODERN CLASSIFICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS

parameter. These defects are a distinctive mark of uniaxial quadrupolar orientational long-range order. Once again, Friedel's choice of terms was accurate, although one must note that the quadrupolar moment can be uniaxial or biaxial. A corresponding distinction should therefore be made between uniaxial and biaxial nematics. In most of the cases, the nematic phase is uniaxial. It took half a century to find the first examples of a biaxial nematic phase that imposed a revision of Friedel's nomenclature. We will return to this topic in the chapter on nematics.

Friedel was also right to consider that the cholesteric phase (see figure A.II.5) was only a particular (chiral) type of nematic phase. This is how he describes it in his treatise:

"Two important conclusions seem to emerge from this series of observations: 1. Cholesteric bodies are nothing more than a very special type of nematic bodies. Upon the gradual disappearance of rotatory power and of the related structural properties: (e.g., Grandjean planes, commas, etc.) what remains is a nematic proper. There is a continuous passage between the cholesteric and the nematic types..."

Finally, he explains that:

"The transition from the right-handed to the left-handed body or vice versa is done by changing the sign of structure twist. This twist takes place about the normal to the preparation plane when the layered structure is uniform; it is undergone by a positive uniaxial nematic body whose optical axis is parallel to the preparation plane and hence it takes place about the normal to its optical axis, thereby giving rise to a negative uniaxial arrangement. It is this twist that, together with the negative uniaxiality, determines the rotatory power."

Friedel was once again right, as we will show in chapter B.VII, dedicated to the cholesteric phase.

#### II.1.c) Smectic phases

Polarized light observations led Friedel to the conclusion that in the second type of mesophases molecules are arranged in layers. Although their thickness is fixed, these layers can bend and give rise to textures that exhibit singular lines in the shape of "focal conics" (Fig. A.II.2).

These geometrical objects were invented by Dupin, a mathematician from the early 19th century (see the chapter on defects in smectic phases). Instead of trying to coin a term inspired by focal conics, Friedel put forward the term "smectics," as this layered molecular structure is very frequent in aqueous solutions of soaps. In order to confirm his conclusions on the structure of the smectic mesophase, Friedel considered the use of X-rays [1b]:



Fig. A.II.2 Focal conics texture observed in a free smectic A drop placed on a glass plate.

"Let us point out that the mesurements of Perrin and Wells on soaps are in principle sufficient to validate the structural hypothesis suggested by so many facts. There is however another way of revealing the equidistant planes in all smectic bodies and to measure their distances in pure bodies, better defined than those used by Perrin, namely the use of X-rays. (...) The repeat distance is probably of the order of several tens of Angstroms so that, in order to have a satisfying reflexion angle, long wavelength X-rays should be employed."

According to broken symmetry criteria, nowadays one calls smectic a phase where molecules are organized in layers, the translational symmetry being broken in **at least** one direction in space.

This definition does not specify the way molecules are set up inside the layers, or define the type of stacking, or the shape of the layers, which need not be flat. Hence, there is a very large number of distinct smectic phases. Their names are formed by adding one or several letters to the name proposed by Friedel. We provide some examples later.

# II.2 Modern definition of mesophases; broken symmetries; short- and long-distance order

Boundaries between different liquid crystalline phases are not always easily determined. Sometimes it is even hard to say if one is dealing with a mesophase or not. One of the possible criteria involves the concept of broken symmetry. As explained by Anderson [2a], this idea, stemming from the work of P. Curie on magnetism [2b] and from that of L. Landau on second-order phase transitions [2c], is based upon the fact that the symmetry of a system of particles can be lower than that of the interaction hamiltonian.

In a homogeneous and isotropic space, the hamiltonian for a system of interacting particles must be invariant with respect to the elements of the group G [3]:

$$G = t \times SO_3^{(L)}$$
(A.II.1)

comprising the following symmetries:

t - the group of 3D translations; it consists of all the translations t = x i + y j + z k with x,y,z real;

 $SO_3^{(L)}$  – the group of space rotations; its elements are the matrices <u>R</u> fulfilling det(R) = ± 1.

Put another way:

for all  $g \in G$  one must have gH=H

with H being the hamiltonian. Remarkably, in spite of this interaction symmetry G, all thermodynamic equilibrium states, except for the gas and the isotropic liquid, have lower symmetries G' such that:

(A.II.2)

(A.II.3)

#### G'∈G

where G' is a sub-group of G. This lowering of hamiltonian symmetry is termed symmetry breaking. Here, "symmetry of the system states" refers, for instance, to the symmetry of density distribution, molecular orientation, or dipolar magnetic or multipolar electric moments, etc.

In the gas or the isotropic liquid phases, there is no symmetry breaking. In periodic 3D crystals, both translational and orientational symmetries are broken, as the mass (or charge) density

$$\langle \rho(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = \rho_0 + \Sigma \rho(\mathbf{q}) \exp(i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{r})$$
 (A.II.4)

is only invariant with respect to the elements of one of the 230 space groups, rather than with respect to all translations t and all rotations  $\underline{R}$ . In particular, simple translations belonging to these space groups are discrete and define the Bravais lattices well known to crystallographers.

By definition, symmetry breaking is *less important* in mesophases than in 3D crystals; these phases can therefore be seen as *intermediaries* between 3D crystals and the liquid isotropic phase.

From now on, whenever it is called for, we shall analyze the symmetry breaking characteristic to the phase studied. To provide an idea of liquid crystalline diversity, figure A.II.3 presents a simplified diagram of mesophase classification. This diagram merits some comments:



**Fig. A.II.3** Mesophase classification diagram. PGG indicates the analogy established by P.-G. de Gennes between quantum liquids and smectics (see chapter C.I). GF denotes the terminology proposed by G. Friedel.

– All classification of condensed matter phases only in terms of symmetries is incomplete, as a system can exhibit two distinct phases of the same symmetry, separated by a discontinuous phase transition. The classic example is that of the liquid-gas transition. To understand the difference between these two phases one must look at the nature of the local order and calculate the correlation functions of the corresponding order parameter. Similar transitions exist in liquid crystals, such as those between smectic phases with the same symmetry, but with locally different molecular arrangements (for instance, the smectic  $A_1$ -smectic  $A_2$  transition [4]).

- In this diagram, nematic phases belong to the family of mesophases presenting only orientational long-range order. This order is quadrupolar (the

concept will be rigorously defined in chapter B.I) and spatially homogeneous. When the mesogenic material is composed of chiral molecules, quadrupolar order is spatially modulated, which does not imply the appearance of long-distance positional order. Cholesteryl esters present such phases, one of which was termed "cholesteric" by Friedel. In this particular case, the modulation appears along one space direction. We know now that, between the isotropic and the cholesteric phases, these materials also exhibit the so-called "Blue Phases" (I, II, and III), where quadrupolar order varies periodically in the three space directions. It is even probable that they are responsible for the blue and violet colors mentioned by Reinitzer in his letter to Lehmann (see the previous chapter). However, as these phases only exist in a very narrow temperature range ( $\approx 3^{\circ}$ C), they were only identified in the late 1970s.

- The diagram also contains a fourth phase, not present in the Friedel classification, called columnar or canonic (the last denomination proposed by Sir Charles Frank). In this type of mesophase, the molecules (usually discoidal or cone shaped) are stacked in one-dimensional columns that can present various spatial arrangements.



Fig. A.II.4 Schematic representation of the nematic uniaxial phase.

- Note that order is sometimes intermediate between short and long range. This is the case for two-dimensional systems where correlation functions can algebraically decay with the distance r (say  $1/r^n$ ). The resulting behavior is in between exponential decay (defining short-range order) and convergence towards a finite value for  $r \rightarrow \infty$  (characteristic of long-range order). As an example one can consider hexatic phases, predicted by Kosterlitz and Thouless [5], and subsequently discovered in smectics (chapter C.V).

- Finally, phases of dipolar or octupolar orientational order have never been experimentally observed.

Figure A.II.4 depicts the nematic uniaxial phase. Every molecule is represented by a prolate spheroid. This rendering is suggestive of the fact that

molecules can rotate freely about their major axes. One should notice that the three-dimensional orientational order is long range.



Fig. A.II.5 Schematic representation of the cholesteric phase. The planes have no real existence, the centers of mass of the molecules being randomly distributed.

In the cholesteric phase, the average molecular orientation turns about a space direction called the helicoidal axis. This twisted chiral phase is shown in figure A.II.5.

These two phases are fluid, the centers of mass of the molecules being randomly distributed. The molecular arrangement in Blue Phases is more complicated and will be described in chapter B.VIII. In the two following sections we shall thoroughly explain the classification of smectic and columnar phases.

### II.3 Classification of smectic phases

These phases are distinguished by the different molecular positioning in the layers and in the transverse direction. In particular, rod-like molecules (see the following chapter on molecular architecture) can be parallel or tilted with respect to the layer's normal axis [6]. The figure A.II.6 table summarizes the primary smectic phases.



Fig. A.II.6 Classification of the main smectic phases.

To begin, a distinction is made in order between:

- 3D orientational order of the molecular major axis,

- orientational order of bonds between nearest neighbor molecules (in the plane of the layers) and, finally,

- positional order of the molecular center of mass in the layer plane and in the transverse direction.

In each case, one should distinguish between short-range order (S.R.O.), longrange order (L.R.O.) or intermediate (Q.L.R.O. for "quasi-long-range order") as in hexatics. These data are gathered in the figure A.II.7 table for the primary smectic phases, which will now be described in detail.

		Orientational		
	Orientational	order of bonds	Positional	Positional
Phases	order of the	in nearest	order across	order in the
	molecular	neighbor	the layers	layers
	major axis	molecules		
Smectic A	L.R.O.	S.R.O.	L.R.O.*	S.R.O.
(SmA)				
Smectics C	L.R.O.	S.R.O.	L.R.O.*	S.R.O.
and O				
(SmC, SmO)				
Smectic B	L.R.O.	Q.L.R.O.	L.R.O.*	S.R.O.
hexatic				
(SmB <sub>hex</sub> )				
Smectic F	L.R.O.	Q.L.R.O.	L.R.O.*	S.R.O.
(SmF)				
Smectic I	L.R.O.	Q.L.R.O.	L.R.O.*	S.R.O.
(SmI)				
Smectic B	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmB)				
Smectic G	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmG)				
Smectic J	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmJ)				
Smectic E	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmE)				
Smectic H	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmH)				
Smectic K	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.	L.R.O.
(SmK)				

**Fig. A.II.7** Types of order present in three-dimensional smectic phases. The asterisk \* indicates that, strictly speaking, lamellar order in fluid layer smectics is Q.L.R. because of the Landau-Peierls instability (unbounded 1D crystals cannot exist).



 ${\bf Fig. \ A.II.8 \ Schematic \ representation \ of \ the \ smectic \ A \ and \ smectic \ C \ phases.}$ 

In the smectic A phase (Fig. A.II.8a), molecules are arranged in fluid layers that can slide one with respect to the other. On average, molecules are perpendicular to the layer plane. This phase is therefore optically uniaxial, with an optical axis normal to the layers. The layer thickness d can vary with temperature and the molecular nature. It can be equal to the molecular length 1 (d = l, SmA<sub>1</sub>), twice the molecular length (d = 2l, SmA<sub>2</sub>) or have an intermediate value (d = xl with 1 < x < 2, SmA<sub>d</sub>). These different types of smectic A phases are separated by discontinuous phase transitions.

In the smectic C phase (Fig. A.II.8b), molecules are tilted with respect to the layer normal. As in the A phase, fluid layers can slide over each other. This phase is optically biaxial.



SmO

Fig. A.II.9 Schematic representation of the smectic O phase.

The smectic O phase (Fig. A.II.9) is another "tilted version" of the smectic A [7]; this time, molecules are placed in a "herringbone" pattern, alternately tilted to the left and to the right in successive layers. This phase is also optically biaxial.

Hexatic phases are more ordered than the previously discussed phases, from which they are distinguished by the existence of quasi-long-range orientational order of geometrical bonds between nearest neighbor molecules. Thus, in the hexatic B phase, the molecules are normal to the layers and locally disposed on a hexagonal lattice (Fig. A.II.10). The lattice orientation is preserved over quasi-long distances, but the positional order of the molecular center of mass is only short range due to the presence of a high density of free (i.e., very mobile) dislocations breaking the translational symmetries. One therefore speaks of hexatic order, a rather subtle concept to be discussed in chapter C.VI. The layers are fluid, as they cannot sustain shear stress without flowing, so they too slide over each other. This phase is optically uniaxial, the optical axis being normal to the layers. Smectic F and I phases are "tilted versions" of the hexatic B phase (Fig. A.II.11). However, they are optically biaxial.



**Fig. A.II.10** Locally hexagonal lattice of a hexatic phase. Although the geometrical bonds between nearest neighbor molecules exhibit quasi-long-range order, the positional order is short range due to an important density of "free dislocations" like that shown in the center of the drawing.



**Fig. A.II.11** Local arrangement of molecules in the plane of the layers in smectic F (a) and I (b) phases. Ellipses represent molecules tilted with respect to the plane of the layers. In both phases, the hexagonal lattice is slightly deformed (in fact, it becomes rectangular).

Finally, crystalline smectics are, by definition, more ordered than hexatic smectics. In these systems, molecules are placed on the sites of a 3D lattice with positional long-range order. However, as we will see, they preserve some degrees of freedom.

Let us begin with smectics B and E. In both phases, molecules are on average normal to the layers, but their rotation about their major axes is different. Thus, in the B phase molecules are free to turn and they are placed on the sites of a hexagonal lattice. The phase is therefore optically uniaxial, the optical axis being normal to the layers. In the E phase, on the contrary, this rotation is partially hindered and the molecules exhibit herringbone stacking in the plane of the layers (Fig. A.II.12) [8]. This particular stacking induces a slight distortion of the hexagonal lattice that becomes rectangular  $(a \neq b)$ . The phase is therefore optically biaxial. Smectic G and J and smectic H and K phases are tilted versions of the B and E phases, respectively.



Fig. A.II.12 Herringbone molecular stacking in the smectic E phase (here the segments represent sections normal to the molecular major axis and not the tilted molecules as in Fig. A.II.11). The lattice has rectangular symmetry ( $a \neq b$ ) and the phase is optically biaxial.

Let us emphasize that crystalline smectic phases are more properly classified among plastic crystals, as the molecules, although placed on the sites of a 3D lattice, retain a certain rotational freedom, contrary to true crystals where all rotations are frozen. Some authors drop the term smectic (Sm) for such phases, referring to them simply as B, G, K, etc. phases, or cryst. B, cryst. G, cryst. K, etc. phases.

### II.4 Classification of columnar phases

In these phases, discovered in 1977 by the Chandrasekhar group in India [9], discoidal [10] or cone-like [11] molecules stack up to form "infinitely long" columns, free to slide with respect to each other (no positional correlation between columns). The molecules can be normal to the column axis or have a certain tilt angle. Strictly speaking, molecular positional order along the columns is short range, although in some cases the stacking is very regular: one speaks then of "ordered" phases, as opposed to the so-called "disordered" phases, where the distance between molecules along a column has strong fluctuations. There is however no clear-cut distinction between these two kinds of phases that must all be considered as one-dimensional fluids. On the other hand, the columns themselves are parallel and form a two-dimensional lattice that can be hexagonal (Fig. A.II.13), rectangular, or oblique. From this point of view, columnar phases are two-dimensional crystals. Figure A.II.14 shows some of the experimentally observed structures, but the list is by no means exhaustive.



Fig. A.II.13 Hexagonal  $D_{hd}$  phase formed of discoidal molecules (sometimes misnamed discotic). The letter "D" stands for the disk-like shape of the molecules. The index "h" indicates the nature of the lattice, hexagonal in this case. The second index is optional and specifies the nature of the stacking in a column: "d" for disordered and "o" for ordered.



Fig. A.II.14 Some examples of columnar mesophases. In certain materials a nematic  $N_D$  phase appears between the columnar phase and the isotropic liquid. For every columnar phase the symmetry group is indicated.  $D_h$  and  $D_r$  phases are the most common. Note that the letter D stands for the shape of the molecule, while the index specifies the nature of the lattice ("h" for hexagonal, "r" for rectangular, and "ob" for oblique). A singular example of a triangular lattice with four columns per unit cell will be given in chapter C.IX [12].

Note that in the hexagonal phase the molecules are not always normal to the column axis. Indeed, hexagonal symmetry is preserved if the molecules are free to rotate about this axis [12]. Finally, certain rod-like molecules, called phasmids because of their six aliphatic chains [13], can yield columnar phases of hexagonal ( $\Phi_h$ ) or oblique ( $\Phi_{ob}$ ) symmetry. Here, the letter  $\Phi$  refers to the "phasmidic" nature of the molecule.

### II.5 Chiral smectic phases

The preceding classification of smectic phases only applies to non-chiral substances. What happens then when the molecules are chiral? Several structures can appear. One of them, called SmC\*, is a twisted version of the SmC phase [14] and is characterized by the fact that the molecules are tilted and turn from one layer to the next with a constant angle about the layer normal. This phase can be ferroelectric after unwinding and can therefore have interesting applications. This topic will be presented in the next volume.



Fig. A.II.15 Renn and Lubensky model of the TGBA phase (from "twist-grain-boundary"). In this twisted smectic phase, the smectic A layers form blocks of width  $l_b$  separated by screw dislocation walls. Inside each wall, dislocations are parallel and equidistant, but their orientation turns with an angle  $\Delta\theta$  between two successive walls, so they are on the average normal to the smectic layers and therefore retain the "screw" character. Note that  $\Delta\theta$  is also the angle of the layers between two successive blocks.

Another solution, theoretically predicted by de Gennes in 1973 by analogy with superconductors [15] and experimentally evidenced 25 years later [16], is obtained by slicing the smectic A (or smectic C) phase in blocks, subsequently assembled in a helical structure. Between two neighboring blocks appears a wall of screw dislocations (Fig. A.II.15). The phase is therefore called TGB, from "twist-grain-boundary." An entire chapter of the second volume is devoted to this phase.

Later, we shall also discuss the recent discovery of so-called Smectic Blue Phases [17,18], still under study (chapter C.V of the second volume). The next chapter discusses the materials that can exhibit mesomorphic phases.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

[1] a) Friedel G., *Leçons de Cristallographie*, Librairie Scientifique Albert Blanchard, Paris, 1964. In passing, let us mention that the classification of crystal symmetries had been completed before X-ray diffraction enabled "seeing" the position of atoms in crystals. Relying on their intuition, mineralogists such as Haüy and Bravais inferred the periodical arrangement of atoms from the crystal faceting. Mathematicians like Schönflies described all the possible symmetries of periodical threedimensional atomic lattices.

b) We have learned that, as early as 1919, G. Friedel had asked his son, E. Friedel, to confirm by X-ray scattering (in the De Broglie laboratory) the layered structure of smectics (J. Friedel, private communication).

- [2] a) Anderson P.W., chapter 2, "Basic Principles I: Broken Symmetry," in Basic Notions of Condensed Matter Physics, Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, New York, 1984.
  b) Curie P., Ann. Chimie Phys., 5 (1895) 289.
  - c) Landau L., Lifchitz E., Statistical Physics, Mir, Moscow, 1967.
- [3] Salomaa M.M., Volovik G. E., Rev. Mod. Phys., 59 (1987) 533.
- [4] The first smectic A-smectic A transition was discovered in the DB5-TBBA mixture by Sigaud G., Hardouin F., Achard M.F., *Phys. Lett.*, **72A** (1979) 24. For a detailed overview of this kind of transition see the book by de Gennes P.-G. and Prost J., *The Physics of Liquid Crystals*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1995.
- [5] Thouless D., "Condensed matter physics in less than three dimensions," in *The New Physics*, Ed. Davies P., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [6] Pershan P.S., in *Structure of Liquid Crystal Phases*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1988.
- [7] a) Levelut A.M., Germain C., Keller P., Liebert L., J. Physique (France), 44 (1983) 623.
  b) Galerne Y., Liebert L., Phys. Rev. Lett., 64 (1990) 906.
  c) Hamelin P., Ph.D. Thesis, University of Paris XI, Orsay, 1991.
- [8] a) Levelut A.M., Doucet J., Lambert M., J. Physique (France), 35 (1974) 773.
  b) Levelut A.M., J. Physique Colloq. (Paris), 37 (1976) C3.51.
  c) Doucet J. in Molecular Physics of Liquid Crystals, Eds. Gray G.W. and Luckhurst G.R., Academic Press, New York, 1979.

- [9] Chandrasekhar S., Sadashiva B.K., Suresh K.A., Pramana, 9 (1977) 471.
- [10] Destrade C., Nguyen H.T., Gasparoux H., Malthête J., Levelut A.M., Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 71 (1981) 111.
- [11] a) Malthête J., Collet A., Nouv. J. Chim., 9 (1985) 151.
  b) Levelut A.M., Malthête J., Collet A., J. Physique (France), 47 (1986) 351.
  c) Zimmermann H., Poupko R., Luz Z., Billard J., Z. Naturforsch. A: Phys., Phys. Chem., Kosmophys., 40A (1985) 149; ibid., 41A (1986) 1137.
  d) Malthête J., Collet A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 109 (1987) 7545.
  e) For a review see Collet A., Dutasta J.P., Lozach B., Canceill J., "Cyclotriveratrylenes and cryptophanes: their synthesis and applications to host-guest chemistry and to the design of new materials," in Topics in Current Chemistry, Vol. 165, Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, 1993, p. 104.
- [12] Levelut A.M., Oswald P., Ghanem A., Malthête J., J. Physique (France), 45 (1984) 745.
- [13] Malthête J., Levelut A.M., Nguyen H.T., J. Physique Lett., 46 (1985) L-880.
- [14] Meyer R.B., Liébert L., Strzelecki L., Keller P., "Ferroelectric liquid crystals," J. Physique (France), 36 (1975) L-69. This paper reports the discovery of the first ferroelectric mesophase.
- [15] De Gennes P.-G., "On analogy between superconductors and smectics A," Sol. State Comm., 10 (1972) 753.
- [16] Goodby J.W., Waugh M.A., Stein S.M., Chin E., Pindak R., Patel J.S., "Characterization of a new helical smectic liquid crystal," *Nature*, 337 (1989) 449.
- [17] a) Li M.H., Lause V., Nguyen H.T., Sigaud G., Barois Ph., Isaert N., *Liq. Cryst.*, 23 (1997) 389.
  b) Pansu B., Li M.H., Nguyen H.T., *J. Phys. II (France)*, 7 (1997) 751.
  c) Pansu B., Grelet E., Li M.H., Nguyen H.T., *Phys. Rev. E*, 62 (2000) 658.
  d) Grelet E., Pansu B., Li M.H., Nguyen H.T., *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 86 (2001) 3791.
  e) Grelet E., Pansu B., Nguyen H.T., *Phys. Rev. E*, 64 (2001) 10703.
  f) Grelet E., "Etude structurale des phases bleues smectiques," Ph.D. Thesis, University of Paris VII, 2001.
- [18] Kamien R., J. Phys. II (France), 7 (1997) 743.

# Chapter A.III Mesogenic anatomy

Mesophases are found in all kinds of materials. To specify the nature of the mesogenic material one distinguishes between:

1. Thermotropic LCs (low molecular mass species)

- 2. Lyotropic LCs (aqueous solutions of amphiphiles)
- 3. Polymeric LCs (reticulated or not)

4. Colloidal LCs (suspensions of colloidal particles, the best known being the tobacco mosaic virus)

This distinction is important because, even though a mesophase always has, by definition, the same symmetries and the same laws of macroscopic behavior, its physical constants strongly depend on the chosen material. Thus, thermotropic nematics flow very easily (with viscosities ranging from that of water to that of glycerine) while polymeric (unreticulated) nematics are extremely viscous.

The rest of this chapter is devoted to describing, using concrete examples, the general architecture of mesogenic molecules. The examples are deliberately chosen from thermotropic (section III.1) and lyotropic (section III.2) liquid crystals, which constitute the main topic of this book. Special attention will be paid to the concept of molecular frustration, which is the key to mesomorphic polymorphism. At the end of the chapter, diblock copolymers (section III.3) and colloidal liquid crystals (section III.4) will be discussed briefly.

### III.1 Thermotropic liquid crystals

Practically all mesogenic substances known today were obtained by synthesis [1, 2]. Their number is impressive and they are thought to account for about 5%

of the synthesized organic products. The work achieved by chemists in this regard is admirable, for they continuously design new mesogenic molecules that engender new phases.

Nowadays, new synthesis is no longer performed at random; on the contrary, it is the result of reflection based upon a considerable body of knowledge, acquired over almost a century. The essential question, which has been asked by Vorländer, Lehmann, and Friedel is the following:

"For what reason does a given substance go through mesomorphic states instead of passing directly from the crystalline solid to the isotropic liquid?"

#### III.1.a) Hybrid molecular form and molecular frustration



To find the first clues, let us consider the phase sequences of figure A.III.1.

**Fig. A.III.1** Phase sequence of three organic substances; the third one, known as 7CB, is mesogenic. It is obtained by covalently bonding two very dissimilar and non-mesogenic molecules, heptane (A) and 4-cyanobiphenyl (B).

The first two sequences belong to very dissimilar and non-mesogenic molecules, heptane (A) and 4-cyanobiphenyl (B). The third sequence is that of the substance C (A-B) obtained by chemically bonding the first two molecules.

These species were not randomly chosen; indeed, mesogenic A-B, known as 7CB, is a component of many nematic mixtures used in liquid crystal displays [3, 4].

Thermodynamically, at fixed temperature and pressure a substance chooses between two possible phases  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  the one that has the lowest chemical potential  $\mu_{\alpha,\beta}$  (T,p). For a given pressure,  $\mu$  is a function of temperature and depends on the phase  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$  of the system. For heptane and 4-cyanobiphenyl, the solid crystalline phase S is in competition with the liquid phase L. The S-L transition takes place at the temperature at which the curves  $\mu_L(T)$  and  $\mu_S(T)$  cross.



**Fig. A.III.2** Chemical potential variation close to a first-order transition between the solid crystalline phase (S) and the liquid phase (L).

In order to understand better the microscopic nature of this transition, one should recall that the chemical potential  $\mu$  is the Gibbs free energy G per molecule:

$$\mu = G/N \quad \text{with} \quad G = U - TS + pV \tag{A.III.1}$$

where G is the thermodynamic potential to be minimized at fixed T and p.

In a three-dimensional crystal, molecules are placed on the sites of a crystalline lattice. When T=0, they are optimally stacked in order to minimize the potential energy U of intermolecular attraction. At constant pressure p, let the temperature increase up to  $T \geq T_{\rm SL}$ . At the melting point  $T_{\rm SL}$ , the entropy  $\Delta S = S_L - S_S$ , gained as the molecules quit their fixed positions, exactly balances the increase  $\Delta U = U_L - U_S$  in internal energy due to this transformation and the work  $p\Delta V = p(V_L - V_S)$  necessary for dilating the system. Consequently, melting takes place when:

$$\Delta G_{SL} = \Delta U - T\Delta S + p\Delta V = 0 \tag{A.III.2}$$

Hence, when the attraction between the molecules is stronger, it is more difficult for the substance to melt, so the melting temperature is higher.

#### NEMATIC AND CHOLESTERIC LIQUID CRYSTALS

The attraction between two organic molecules can be due to:

1. Direct interaction between their permanent electric dipoles – this interaction is attractive for certain positions of the molecules;

2. Permanent dipole-induced dipole interaction – this interaction depends on the molecular polarizability;

3. Induced dipole-induced dipole interaction named after van der Waals – this interaction also depends on the molecular polarizability.

In alkanes such as heptane, the first two kinds of interaction do not exist, because the molecule bears no permanent dipole; moreover, dispersion forces are weak due to the low polarizability of these molecules which have no double bond. Therefore, it is not surprising that at ambient pressure, heptane melts at a temperature as low as  $T_{SLA} = -91^{\circ}C$  [5] (and boils at 98.4°C).

On the other hand, 4-cyanobiphenyl melts at a much higher temperature, around  $T_{SLB} = 88^{\circ}C$ . The height of the melting point is due to the presence of the cyano group -C=N, which has a strong dipolar moment, and to the high polarizability of the aromatic rings. In conclusion, the 7CB molecule consists of two parts, each of them having a classical phase sequence but with very different melting temperatures.

Let us now see how mesophases are created. As shown in figure A.III.3, merely mixing the two substances is not enough. Indeed, the phase diagram of the binary mixture (A+B) is altogether classical, comprising a liquid isotropic phase and two crystalline phases of almost pure A or B (the phase diagram for the case of a diluted binary mixture will be discussed in detail in chapter B.IX).



**Fig. A.III.3** Phase diagram of the binary mixture heptane / 4-cyanobiphenyl. The thick line corresponds to measurements performed on mixtures of 1.9%, 4.9%, and 50% molar concentration. Thin lines are hypothetical and have been included for clarity.